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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the following committees:
(i) Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee ensures that the Directors of the Board bring characteristics to the Board, which provides a
required mix of responsibilities, skills and experience. The Nomination Committee will also assist the Board in reviewing on an
annual basis the appropriate balance and size of Non-Executive participation and in establishing procedures and processes
towards an annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Committees of the Board and contribution of
each individual Director.
This Committee is chaired by Tan Boon Leng and the members are Izlan bin Izhab and Cho Wai Loon.
The Nomination Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions. The Nomination
Committee held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 with full attendance.
(ii) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee acts as a committee of the full Board to assist in assessing the remuneration of the Directors
reflecting the responsibility and commitment undertaken by the Board membership.
This Committee is chaired by Tan Boon Leng and the other members include Izlan bin Izhab, Cho Wai Loon and
Tiang Boon Hwa.
The Remuneration Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions. The Remuneration
Committee held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 with full attendance.
(iii) Option Committee
The Company obtained approvals from the shareholders at a general meeting on 13 October 2005 and 18 October 2005 to
establish the Employees Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”). An Option Committee was set up to administer the ESOS in
accordance with the By-Laws.
This Committee is chaired by Izlan bin Izhab and the other members include Cho Wai Loon and Tiang Boon Hwa.
The Option Committee meets as and when necessary and may decide by way of circular resolutions. The Option Committee
held one (1) meeting during the financial year ended 31 December 2010 with full attendance.
(iv) Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Cho Wai Loon and the other members include Izlan bin Izhab and Tan Boon Leng. Fuller
details of the composition of the Committee are found in the Audit Committee Report.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the remuneration of Directors for the financial year are as follows:
(i)

(ii)

Aggregate remuneration of Directors categorized into appropriate components:
Executive

Non-Executive

RM

RM

Fees
Salaries and bonuses
Other benefits

86,400
674,003
5,190

60,000
-

Total

765,593

60,000

Number of Directors whose remuneration falls into the following bands:
Remuneration Band

No of Directors
Executive
Non-Executive

RM1,001 – RM50,000
RM50,001 – RM100,000
RM100,001 – RM150,000
RM150,001 – RM200,000
RM200,001 – RM250,000
RM250,001 – RM300,000
RM300,001 – RM350,000
RM350,001 – RM400,000
RM400,001 – RM450,000

1
1
1

3
-

Total number of directors

3

3

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND INVESTORS RELATIONS POLICY
Dialogue between the Company and Investors
The Company recognizes the importance of being accountable to its shareholders and investors through maintenance of an open
communication policy with investors and shareholders alike. In ensuring effective communication, the Company communicates with its
shareholders and investors through various means and forums such as the annual report, company visits, site visits, annual general meetings,
exhibition and other Group activities.
Any information that may be regarded as undisclosed material information about the Group will not be given to any single shareholder or
shareholder group. To ensure that shareholders and investors are well informed of major developments of the Group, information is
disseminated to shareholders and investors through various disclosures and announcements to Bursa Securities which include quarterly
financial results and press release from media.
At each Annual General Meeting, Executive Directors and, where appropriate, the Chairman are available to respond to shareholders’
questions during the meeting.
Annual General Meeting
Notice of the Annual General Meeting and Annual Reports are sent out to shareholders at least 21 days before the date of the meeting.
Besides the normal agenda for Annual General Meeting, the Board also provides opportunities for shareholders to raise questions pertaining
to the business activities of the Group. All Directors are available to provide responses to shareholders’ questions during these meetings.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
The Board takes responsibility for presenting a balanced and meaningful assessment of the Group’s operations and prospects each time it
releases its quarterly and annual financial results. The Board is assisted by the Audit Committee to oversee the Group’s financial reporting
processes and the quality of its financial reporting. The Statement by Directors pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965 is
set out on page 38 of this Annual Report.
Directors’ Responsibility in Financial Reporting
In preparing the financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Directors have:






Adopted suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
Made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
Ensured compliance with applicable accounting standards;
Prepared financial statements on the going concern basis unless otherwise stated; and
Ensured proper maintenance of accounting records, disclosing reasonable accuracy in the financial position of the Group.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets
of the Group and to detect and prevent fraud and other irregularities.
Internal Control
The Board of Directors is aware of its responsibility to maintain a sound system of internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ investment
and the Group’s assets. It will be an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risk faced by the Group in the
future and this will be regularly reviewed by the Board up to the date of approval of the Annual Report. The main elements of this system
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Board and Audit Committee have appointed IBDC (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, the outsourced
professional firm for the establishment of an independent internal audit function which is in compliance with the ACE LR. The Board and the
Audit Committee also work closely with external auditors on the functions of internal controls from time to time, to ensure the smooth
running of the Company’s operations.
Relationship with the Auditors
The Board is aware that it should, through the Audit Committee, maintain a transparent and formal relationship with the external auditors,
in the review of the external auditors’ plan, report and procedures and the assistance given by the Group’s employees to the external
auditors. The Board is also aware that the Audit Committee will review any letter of resignation from the external auditors, the suitability of
the external auditors for re-appointment and recommends the nomination of other person or persons as external auditors.

Statement On Internal Control

Introduction
The Board, as guided by the “Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies” is pleased to provide the
following Statement on Internal Control which outlines the nature and scope of internal controls of the Group during the financial year.
The Board’s Responsibilities
The Board acknowledges their responsibility to maintain a system of internal control and for reviewing its adequacy and integrity. The system
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s corporate objectives and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against any material misstatement or loss.
The Risk Management Process
Apart from financial controls, the Group’s system of internal controls also cover operational and compliance controls and, most importantly,
risk management. As part of the risk management process, the Board assisted by the Audit Committee, is continuously identifying, assessing
and managing significant business risks faced by the Group throughout the financial year.
The process will be regularly reviewed by the Board through the Audit Committee and is in accordance with the Guidance as contained in the
“Statement on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Public Listed Companies”.
The Internal Control Process
The other key features of the Group’s internal control system include the following:






An organization structure with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate reporting structure including proper approval and
authorization limit for approving capital expenditure and expenses within the Group;
An Internal Audit function which performs regular and systematic review of the internal controls to assess and provide sufficient
assurance on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and to highlight significant risks impacting the Group with
recommendation for improvement; and
The Audit Committee will regularly review reports by the Internal Audit function and conducts annual assessment on the
adequacy of the function’s scope of work and resources.

The Group continues to take measures to enhance and strengthen the internal control environment.
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Audit Committee Report

The Board of Directors of N2N Connect Berhad is pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the year ended
31 December 2010.
The Audit Committee was established by a resolution of the Board on 13 October 2005.
Members and Meetings
The Members of the Audit Committee comprising the following directors.

Composition of the Audit Committee

Attendance at the Committee Meetings held during the
Financial Year ended 31 December 2010

Chairman

Cho Wai Loon
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

5/5

Member

Izlan Bin Izhab
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

5/5

Member

Tan Boon Leng
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

4/5

TERMS OF REFERENCE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
COMPOSITION
(1) The company must appoint an audit committee from amongst its directors which fulfils the following requirements:(a) the Committee must be composed of no fewer than 3 members;
(b) all the Committee members must be non-executive directors, with majority of them being independent;
(c) at least one member of the Committee:(i) must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or
(ii) if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least 3 years working
experience and:•

he must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

•

he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the 1st Schedule of the
Accountants Act 1967.

(iii) fulfills such other requirements as prescribed or approved by the Exchange.
(2) No alternate Director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee.
(3) The members of the Committee shall elect a Chairman from among their member who shall be an independent director.
(4) In the event of any vacancy in the Committee resulting in the non-compliance of subparagraph 15.09(1) of the ACE LR, the
Board of Directors shall, within three (3) months of that event, appoint such number of new members as may be required to
make up the minimum number of three (3) members.
QUORUM
The quorum of the Committee shall be two (2) of whom the majority of members present shall be independent Directors.
ATTENDANCE AND MEETINGS
The Committee may invite any member of the management, employees, other Directors and representatives of the internal and external
auditors to be present at meetings of the Committee.
The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times a year and such additional meetings as the Chairman shall decide in order to fulfill its
duties. In addition, the Chairman may call a meeting of the Committee if a request is made by any Committee member, the Company’s
Managing Director, or the internal or external auditors.
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FUNCTIONS
The Committee shall, amongst others, discharge the following functions:(1) review the following and report the same to the Board of Directors :
(a) with the external auditor, the audit plan;
(b) with the external auditor, his evaluation of the system of internal controls;
(c) with the external auditor, his audit report;
(d) the assistance given by the employees of the Company to the external auditor;
(e) the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit functions and that it has the
necessary authority to carry out its work;
(f) the internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes or investigation
undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of the internal audit function;
(g) the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to the approval by the Board of Directors, focusing
particularly on :(i) changes in or implementation of major accounting policy changes;
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(ii) significant and unusual events; and
(iii) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
(h any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or Group including any
transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;
(i) any letter of resignation from the external auditors of the Company; and
(j) whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the Company’s external auditor is not suitable for
re-appointment; and
(2) recommend the nomination of a person or persons as external auditors.
PROCEDURE
The Committee may regulate its own procedure, in particular:(a) the calling of meetings;
(b) the notice to be given of such meetings;
(c) the voting and proceedings of such meetings;
(d) the keeping of minutes; and
(e) the custody, production and inspection of such minutes.
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(1) The Committee shall ensure that an Audit Committee Report be prepared at the end of each financial year that complies with
sub-Rules (2) and (3) below.
(2) The Committee report must be clearly set out in the annual report of the Company.
(3) The Committee report shall include the following:(a) the composition of the Committee, including the name, designation (indicating the chairman) and directorship of the
members (indicating whether the directors are independent or otherwise);
(b) the terms of reference of the Committee;
(c) the number of Committee meetings held during the financial year and details of attendance of each Committee member;
(d) a summary of the activities of the Committee in the discharge of its functions and duties for that financial year of the
Company ; and
(e) a summary of the activities of the internal audit function or activity.
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RIGHTS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Committee shall, wherever necessary and reasonable for the performance of its duties in accordance with a procedure to be
determined by the Board of Directors and at the cost of the Company:(a)

have authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;

(b) have the resources which are required to perform its duties;
(c)

have full and unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Company;

(d) have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit function
or activity;
(e)

be able to obtain independent professional or other advice; and

(f)

be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance of other
directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.

REPORTING OF BREACHES TO BURSA SECURITIES
Where the Committee is of the view that a matter reported by it to the Board of Directors of the Company has not been satisfactorily
resolved resulting in a breach of the ACE LR, the Committee shall promptly report such matter to Bursa Securities.
REVIEW OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board of Directors must review the term of office and performance of the Committee and each of its members at least once every
3 years to determine whether the Committee and members have carried out their duties in accordance with their terms of reference.
SECRETARY
The Secretary to the Committee shall be the company secretary.
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY OF THE COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee had undertaken the following activities during the financial year ended 31 December 2010:
(i)

reviewed the unaudited quarterly financial results for the quarters ended 31 December 2009, 31 March 2010, 30 June 2010,
and 30 September 2010 for submission to the Board;

(ii)

reviewed the draft audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 and discussed with the
external auditors in relation to audit issues, audit reports, assistance provided by the management, management letter;

(iii) reviewed the related party transactions, if any, arising within the Company and/or the Group;
(iv) reviewed the Statement on Allocation of Options Under the Employees Share Options Scheme (“ESOS”);
(v)

reviewed Chairman’s Statement, Statement on Corporate Governance, Statement on Internal Control, Statement on
Corporate Social Responsibility, and Audit Committee Report for inclusion in the Annual Report 2009;

(vi) reviewed the draft Statement in relation to the Proposed Renewal of the Authority for Share Buy-Back;
(vii) recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external auditors for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 and
their audit fees;
(viii) considered and approved the External Auditors’ Audit Planning Memorandum for the financial year ended
31 December 2010;
(ix) reviewed the Internal Audit Strategy and Planning Memorandum for the financial year ended 31 December 2010; and
(x)

reviewed the Internal Audit Report for the year ended 31 December 2009.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
For the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Board and Audit Committee have appointed IBDC (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, the outsourced
professional firm for the establishment of an independent internal audit function which is in compliance with the ACE LR. The costs incurred
for this internal audit function was RM15,000.
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY OF THE INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The internal audit function had reviewed the internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010, which
covered the following areas:










Management & Financial Control
Revenue Control – Invoicing process
Expenditure Control – payment and expenses
Procurement
Credit Control and Collection
Insurance Coverage
Sales and Marketing
Research and Development
Property, Plant & Equipment Safeguards and Substantiation and Evaluation

ESOS
During the financial year, no allocation of share options was made by the Company pursuant to the ESOS and no share options was offered
to and exercised by non-executive directors under the ESOS.
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Additional Compliance Information

SHARE BUYBACK
During the financial year, the Company did not enter into any share buyback transactions.
OPTIONS, WARRANTS AND CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
There are no options, warrants or convertible securities issued by the Company during the financial year. The number of shares issued by
the Company pursuant to the exercise of options under ESOS during the financial year amounted to 178,200 shares.
AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“ADR”) OR GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“GDR”)
During the financial year, the Company did not sponsor any ADR or GDR programme.
SANCTIONS OR PENALTIES
There were no sanctions or penalties imposed on the Group, directors or management by the relevant regulatory bodies during the
financial year.
NON-AUDIT FEES
There was no non-audit fees paid to the external auditors by the Group during the financial year.
VARIATION IN RESULTS
There was no significant variation between the financial results in the Annual Audited Financial Statements 2010 and the unaudited
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2010 announced by the Company on 22 February 2011.
PROFIT ESTIMATES, FORECAST OR PROJECTION
The Company did not issue any profit estimates, forecast or projection for the financial year.
PROFIT GUARANTEE
The Company did not issue any profit guarantee during the financial year.
MATERIAL CONTRACT INVOLVING DIRECTORS AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
There were no material contracts involving directors and substantial shareholders during the financial year except for a Service Agreement
dated 29 September 2004 entered into with Tiang Boon Hwa (“TBH”) for the appointment of TBH to act as Managing Director or in such
other capacity as the Company may designate at a salary of RM18,000 per month for a term commencing 1 October 2004 and subject to
termination by either party giving 6 months notice in writing (“Term”). The Company shall have the discretion to terminate TBH’s
employment lawfully (without notice or on notice less than that required under the Term above), by paying to TBH a sum equal to
RM2,000,000 in addition to his salary and value of contractual benefits due to him in respect of that part of the period of the Term, which
the Company has not given to TBH or the unexpired part of such fixed term.
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IREVALUATION POLICY
The Company did not revalue any of its property, plant and equipment during the financial year.
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”)
The Group understands the importance of its stakeholders, i.e. shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, and local communities, in the
successfulness of Company business. Pursuant to that, the Company will constantly be trying to balance the return of each of its stakeholders
group. Above and beyond a continuous effort to maximize the wealth of its ordinary shareholders, the following actions have been
conducted in Year 2010 to look to the needs of the broader stakeholder group and to take on a wider social responsibility:

Type of stakeholder

Action

Employees

Constant review on staff benefit and allowance and disseminate the decision via issuance of circulars,
directives, rules & regulations or other instructions as a form of communication from management to
employees.

Customers

Continuous R&D efforts to improve quality of products.
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Involving customers in the Company’s events to establish good relationship.
Suppliers

Close review on the Company’s working capital management to maintain liquidity level required to
repay its creditors on time.
Involving suppliers in the Company’s events to establish good relationship.
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abundance
To continuously create values for our customers through our differentiated
products and services to earn lasting respect and loyalty of our customers.

32

Financial Statement
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
34
38
38
39
41
42
43
45
47
49

Directors’ Report
Statement by Directors
Statutory Declaration
Independent Auditors‘ Report
Statements of Financial Position
Statements of Comprehensive Income
Statements of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements

33

Directors’ Report
The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software packages,
provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities.
The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
Financial Results
					
Group	Company
					RM	RM
			
Net loss for the financial year
- attributable to equity holders of the Company			
6,446,857
5,033,317
In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year have
not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, other than as disclosed
in Notes 7 and 20 to the financial statements.
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction
or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the
Company for the current financial year.
Dividends
The Board of Directors does not recommend any dividend in respect of the financial year under review.
Reserves and Provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under review other than those
disclosed in the financial statements.
Issue of Shares and Debentures
During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased from RM29,876,080 to
RM29,893,900 by way of the issuance of 178,200 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for cash pursuant to the Company’s
Employee Share Option Scheme at weighted exercise price of RM0.23 per ordinary share.
The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares
of the Company.
There were no issue of debentures by the Company during the financial year under review.
Options Granted Over Unissued Shares
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year under review.

Directors’ Report
Employee Share Option Scheme
The N2N Connect Berhad (“N2N”) Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved by shareholders at the General
Meetings on 13 October 2005 and 18 October 2005. The ESOS was implemented on 23 November 2005 and shall expire on
22 November 2010. Pursuant to the Board’s approval on 24 August 2010, the tenure of the ESOS has been extended for a
further 5 years, expiring on 22 December 2015.
The salient features and other terms of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.
No other options were granted to any person to take up the unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.
Details of the options granted to Directors are disclosed in the section on Directors’ Interests in this report.
Directors
The Directors who served since the date of the last report are as follows:
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Chua Tiong Hoong
Lai Su Ping
Tiang Boon Hwa
Cho Wai Loon
Izlan bin Izhab
Tan Boon Leng
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Directors’ Interests
Details of holdings and deemed interests in the share capital and options over the shares of the Company or its related
corporations by the Directors in office at the end of the financial year, according to the register required to be kept under
Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, were as follows:
	No. of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
		At			At
		 1.1.2010	Acquired
Disposed
31.12.2010
N2N Connect Holdings Sdn. Bhd.				
Direct interest 				
  Chua Tiong Hoong		
20
–
–
20
   Lai Su Ping		
280
–
–
280
   Tiang Boon Hwa		
646
–
–
646
				
	No. of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
		At			At
		 1.1.2010	Acquired
Disposed
31.12.2010
N2N Connect Berhad				
Direct interest 				
  Chua Tiong Hoong		
779,354
–
   Lai Su Ping		
10,096,844
–
   Tiang Boon Hwa		
10,099,444
–
  Cho Wai Loon		
200,000
–
   Tan Boon Leng		
1,232,700
–
				
Indirect interest 				
   Chua Tiong Hoong ¹		
364,000
–
   Lai Su Ping ²		
145,548,954
–
   Tiang Boon Hwa ³		
145,546,354
–

–
–
–
–
–

779,354
10,096,844
10,099,444
200,000
1,232,700

–
–
–

364,000
145,548,954
145,546,354

Directors’ Report
	No. of options over ordinary shares
of RM0.10 each (ESOS)
			At			At
			 1.1.2010	Exercised	Lapsed
31.12.2010
				
N2N Connect Berhad				
Chua Tiong Hoong		
1,900,000
–
–
1,900,000
Lai Su Ping		
1,860,000
–
–
1,860,000
Tiang Boon Hwa		
2,180,000
–
–
2,180,000
Notes:
¹

Deemed interest through his spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007.

²

Deemed interest through her spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007 and her direct interest in the holding company, N2N Connect
Holdings Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

³

Deemed interest through his spouse’s direct interest in the Company pursuant to Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act,
1965 in compliance with Companies (Amendment) Act 2007 and his direct interest in the holding company, N2N Connect
Holdings Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Lai Su Ping and Tiang Boon Hwa are also deemed to have interests
in the shares of all its subsidiary companies to the extent the Company has an interest.
En. Izlan bin Izhab who holds office at the end of the financial year does not have any interest in the ordinary shares and
options of the Company or its related corporations during the financial year under review.
Directors’ Benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any
benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors
as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director
or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.
Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company or its subsidiary companies a party to any arrangement
the object of which is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the share options granted under
the N2N Connect Berhad ESOS.
Other Statutory Information
(a)

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company
were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value in the ordinary course of business
were written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

Directors’ Report
(b)

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:
(i)

the amount written off for bad debts or the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the
Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent;

(ii)

the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
misleading;

(iii)

any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; and

(iv)

adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading
or inappropriate.

(c)

No contingent or other liabilities of the Group and of the Company have become enforceable, or are likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors,
will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

(d)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(i)

any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year
which secures the liabilities of any other person; and

(ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial
year.

Holding Company
The Directors regard N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the holding company.
Auditors
The auditors, Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

		
CHUA TIONG HOONG	TIANG BOON HWA
KUALA LUMPUR
31 March 2011
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Statement by Directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, CHUA TIONG HOONG and TIANG BOON HWA, being two of the Directors of N2N CONNECT BERHAD, do hereby state
that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 41 to 83 are drawn up in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of the results of their operations and
the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

CHUA TIONG HOONG	TIANG BOON HWA
KUALA LUMPUR
31 March 2011

Statutory Declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, TIANG BOON HWA, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of N2N CONNECT BERHAD,
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 41 to 83 are to the best of my knowledge
and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the
provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed TIANG BOON HWA	
at KUALA LUMPUR in the Federal
Territory this 31 March 2011

)
)
)
)

	TIANG BOON HWA
Before me,

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of N2N Connect Berhad

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of N2N Connect Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial
position as at 31 December 2010 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 41 to 83.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia, and for such internal
control as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. These standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to Company’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also involves evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards in
Malaysia and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report on the following:
(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company
and by its subsidiary companies of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

(b)

We have considered the financial statements and the independent auditors’ reports of the subsidiary company which
we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 4 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiary companies that are consolidated with the Company’s
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and have received satisfactory information and explanations as
required by us for those purposes.

(d)

The independent auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies were not subject to any
qualification and did not include any comment made under subsection (3) of Section 174 of the Act.
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Other Matters
This report is solely made to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies
Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume any responsibility to any other person for the content
of this report.
Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 33 is disclosed to meet the requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary
information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or
Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants ("MIA Guidance") and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion,
the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

		
		
MORISON ANUARUL AZIZAN CHEW	SATHIEA SEELEAN A/L MANICKAM
Firm Number: AF 001977
Approved Number: 1729/05/12 (J/PH)
Chartered Accountants
Partner of Firm
KUALA LUMPUR
31 March 2011

Statements of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2010

Group	Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
	Note	RM	RM	RM	RM
Non-Current Assets						
Property, plant and equipment
3
12,917,844
18,180,996
9,902,194
16,388,420
Investment in subsidiary companies
4
–
–
2,095,000
1,095,006
Intangible asset
5
7,799,064
6,597,734
7,799,064
6,597,734
		
		
20,716,908
24,778,730
19,796,258
24,081,160
						
Current Assets						
		
Inventories
6
2,150
4,030
2,150
4,030
Trade receivables
7
5,484,842
6,595,155
2,353,926
4,976,334
Other receivables
8
763,111
1,672,150
608,628
1,575,905
Amount owing by holding company
9
12,898
12,383
12,898
12,383
Amount owing by subsidiary companies 10
7,558,233
7,852,216
Tax recoverable		
16,331
21,354
16,331
21,354
Marketable securities
11
12,301,172
10,684,573
12,301,172
10,684,573
Cash and bank balances		
2,723,159
5,357,331
402,560
173,128
		
		
21,303,663
24,346,976
23,255,898
25,299,923
						
Current Liabilities						
		
Trade payables
12
372,723
822,368
279,030
751,200
Other payables
13
1,147,555
1,314,451
406,539
1,249,224
Amount owing to directors
14
36,384
58,589
36,384
58,589
		
		1,556,662
2,195,408
721,953
2,059,013
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Net current assets		

19,747,001

22,151,568

22,533,945

23,240,910

		
40,463,909
46,930,298
42,330,203
47,322,070
						
		
Financed By:						
Share capital
15
29,893,900
Share premium		
5,229,405
Exchange reserve
16
213,885
Retained profits		
5,097,591

29,876,080
5,205,775
270,584
11,544,448

29,893,900
5,229,405
–
7,206,898

29,876,080
5,205,775
–
12,240,215

Total equity
- attributable to equity holders
of the Company		
40,434,781
46,896,887
42,330,203
47,322,070
						
		
Non-Current Liability						
		
Deferred tax liabilities
17
29,128
33,411
–
–
		
		
40,463,909
46,930,298
42,330,203
47,322,070
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

Group	Company
		
2010
2009
2010
2009
	Note	RM	RM	RM	RM
						
Revenue
18
14,949,301
12,270,730
10,096,192
7,607,123
						
Cost of sales		
(4,378,096)
(4,967,491)
(1,837,973)
(3,947,437)
						
Gross profit		
10,571,205
7,303,239
8,258,219
3,659,686
						
Other operating income		
769,254
306,908
2,991,464
3,307,445
						
Administration expenses		
(17,786,538)
(29,204,049)
(16,277,939)
(28,523,791)
						
Finance costs
19
–
(435)
–
(435)
						
Loss before taxation
20
(6,446,079)
(21,594,337)
(5,028,256)
(21,557,095)
						
Taxation
21
(778)
(38,697)
(5,061)
(5,286)
						
Net loss for the financial year
attributable to equity holders
of the Company		 (6,446,857)
(21,633,034)
(5,033,317)
(21,562,381)
						
Other comprehensive(loss)/income:					
- Exchange differences arising
from translation of foreign
operations		
(56,699)
75,283
–
–
Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year
attributable to equity holders
of the Company		 (6,503,556)
(21,557,751)
(5,033,317)
(21,562,381)
						
		
Loss per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company
(sen)						
Basic
22(a)
(2.16)
(7.25)		
Fully diluted
22(b)
(2.16)
(7.25)		

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
Non-distributable
Distributable
	Share 	Share	Exchange	Retained
	Capital
Premium	Reserve
Profits	Total
	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM
Group						
At 1 January 2009
29,843,040
5,161,185
195,301
33,177,482
68,377,008
				
Issue of shares pursuant to:
- ESOS
33,040
44,590
–
–
77,630
						
Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year
–
–
75,283
(21,633,034)
(21,557,751)
						
At 31 December 2009
29,876,080
5,205,775
270,584
11,544,448
46,896,887
						
				
At 1 January 2010
29,876,080
5,205,775
270,584
11,544,448
46,896,887
						
Issue of shares pursuant to:
- ESOS
17,820
23,630
–
–
41,450
						
Total comprehensive loss
for the financial year
–
–
(56,699)
(6,446,857)
(6,503,556)
						
At 31 December 2010
29,893,900
5,229,405
213,885
5,097,591
40,434,781
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

			Non			
distributable
Distributable		
		Share 	Share	Retained
		Capital
Premium
Profits	Total
		RM	RM	RM	RM
Company						
At 1 January 2009		
29,843,040
5,161,185
33,802,596
68,806,821
						
Issue of shares pursuant to:
- ESOS		
33,040
44,590
–
77,630
						
Total comprehensive loss for
the financial year		
–
–
(21,562,381)
(21,562,381)
						
At 31 December 2009		
29,876,080
5,205,775
12,240,215
47,322,070
					
At 1 January 2010		
29,876,080
5,205,775
12,240,215
47,322,070
					
Issue of shares pursuant to:
- ESOS		
17,820
23,630
–
41,450
						
Total comprehensive loss for
the financial year		
–
–
(5,033,317)
(5,033,317)
At 31 December 2010		
29,893,900
5,229,405
7,206,898
42,330,203
						

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

				2010
2009
				RM	RM
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 				
Loss before taxation				
Adjustments for:				
   Allowance for impairment on trade receivables			
   Amortisation of intangible asset				
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 			
   Property, plant and equipment written-off			
   Inventories written off				
   Impairment loss on trade receivables				
   Impairment loss of marketable securities				
   Fair value gain on marketable securities				
  Interest expense				
  Interest income				
  Dividend income				

(6,446,079)

(21,594,337)

2,906,080
1,113,826
7,921,232
6,993
1,880
271,682
–
(49,748)
–
(282,784)
(37,818)

16,025,382
902,928
7,901,908
12,062
–
–
30,000
–
435
(273,051)
(20,364)

Operating profit before working capital changes			
5,405,264
				
(Increase)/Decrease in working capital				
Trade receivables				
(2,063,177)
Other receivables				
908,605
Trade payables				
(461,732)
Other payables 				
(177,128)
Amount owing to directors				
(22,205)
Amount owing by holding company				
(515)

2,984,963

(5,112,576)
3,217,684
(90,621)
492,988
(23,490)
(1,486)

				 (1,816,152)

(1,517,501)

Cash generated from operations 				

3,589,112

1,467,462

Interest received				282,784
Interest paid				
–
Tax paid				
(38)

273,051
(435)
(64)

				282,746

272,552

Net cash from operating activities				
3,871,858
				

1,740,014

Cash Flows From Investing Activities					
Computer software development cost				
(2,315,156)
(1,877,734)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 			
(2,695,962)
(594,382)
Net changes in marketable securities				
(1,529,033)
2,509,105
Dividend received				
–
15,070
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities				

(6,540,151)

52,059
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

				2010
2009
				RM	RM
Cash Flows From Financing Activities				
Proceeds from issue of shares 				
Repayment of hire purchase payables				

41,450
–

77,630
(20,220)

Net cash from financing activities				
41,450
				

57,410

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents			(2,626,843)
Effect of exchange rate changes				 (7,329)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		5,357,331

1,849,483
44,763
3,463,085

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year			2,723,159
				

5,357,331

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year comprises:
Cash and bank balances				

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2,723,159

5,357,331

Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

				2010
2009
				RM	RM
Cash Flows From Operating Activities 			
Loss before taxation				
Adjustments for:			
   Allowance for impairment on trade receivables			
   Amortisation of intangible asset				
   Impairment loss on loan and receivables				
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 			
   Impairment loss on investment in a subsidiary company			
   Property, plant and equipment written-off			
   Fair value gain on marketable securities				
   Inventories written off				
   Impairment loss on marketable securities			
  Interest expense				
  Dividend income				
  Interest income				
   Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)				

(5,028,256)

(21,557,095)

2,906,080
1,113,826
296,621
7,200,456
2
6,993
(49,748)
1,880
–
–
(37,818)
(282,784)
31,052

16,017,382
902,928
–
7,398,188
297,000
4,312
–
–
30,000
435
(20,364)
(273,051)
(62,636)

6,158,304

2,737,099

(555,354)
967,277
(472,170)
(842,685)
(22,205)
(762,004)
(515)

(4,432,127)
2,939,866
(32,576)
441,351
(23,490)
(2,949,941)
(1,486)

				 (1,687,656)

(4,058,403)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 				

4,470,648

(1,321,304)

Interest received				282,784
Interest paid				
–
Tax paid				
(38)

273,051
(435)
(64)

				282,746

272,552

Operating profit before working capital changes			
			
(Increase)/Decrease in working capital			
Trade receivables				
Other receivables				
Trade payables				
Other payables 				
Amount owing to directors				
Amount owing by subsidiary companies				
Amount owing by holding company				

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities				
			
Cash Flows From Investing Activities			
Computer software development cost				
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 			
Net changes in marketable securities				
Dividend received				
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities				
			

4,753,394

(1,048,752)

(2,315,156)
(721,223)
(1,529,033)
–

(1,877,734)
(191,221)
2,509,105
15,070

(4,565,412)

455,220
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

				2010
2009
				RM	RM
			
Cash Flows From Financing Activities			
Proceeds from issue of shares 				
41,450
77,630
Repayment of hire purchase payables				
–
(20,220)
Net cash from financing activities				
			

41,450

57,410

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			
229,432
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year		173,128

(536,122)
709,250

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year			402,560
			

173,128

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year comprises:			
Cash and bank balances				
402,560

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

173,128

Notes to the Financial Statements
1.	Corporate Information
The principal activities of the Company are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software packages,
provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities.
The principal activities of the subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated under the Companies Act, 1965 and domiciled in
Malaysia, and is listed on the Access, Certainty and Efficiency (“ACE”) Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office of the Company is located at 3rd Floor, No. 17, Jalan Ipoh Kecil, 50350 Kuala Lumpur.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at Suite 4.03, 4th Floor, Kompleks Antarabangsa, Jalan Sultan
Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur.
2.	Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies
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(a)	Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost convention
unless otherwise indicated in the accounting policies below and in compliance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, 1965 and the Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia.
During the financial year, the Group and the Company have adopted the following applicable new Financial
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”), revised FRSs, Issues Committee (“IC”) Interpretations, amendments to FRSs and IC
Interpretations issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board which are mandatory and will be effective
for financial periods as stated below:
			Effective date for
			
financial periods
			
beginning on
			
or after
		
FRS 8		
Operating Segments
1 July 2009
FRS 7		
Financial Instruments: Disclosures
1 January 2010
FRS 101
Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)
1 January 2010
FRS 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
1 January 2010
		
(revised)
Amendments to FRS 2
Share-based Payment
1 January 2010
		
- Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation
1 January 2010
IC Interpretation 10
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
1 January 2010
Amendments to FRS 1: First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and
FRS 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

1 January 2010

Amendments to FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IC Interpretation 9:
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

1 January 2010

Amendments to FRSs contained in the document entitled
“Improvements to FRSs (2009)”

1 January 2010

49

Notes to the Financial Statements
The Directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of the above revised FRSs, IC
Interpretations, amendments to FRSs and IC Interpretations do not have any significant impact on the financial
statements of the Group and of the Company except as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.
The Directors of the Group and the Company anticipate that the application of the following new Financial
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”), revised FRSs, Issues Committee (“IC”) Interpretations, amendments to FRSs and
IC Interpretations which are mandatory and will be effective for financial periods as stated below will have no
material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, except as disclosed in Note 29
to the financial statements:
			Effective date for
			
financial periods
			
beginning on
			
or after
		
Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation
1 March 2010
 	
- paragraphs 11,16 and 97E
FRS 1		
First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards (revised)
1 July 2010
FRS 3		
Business Combinations (revised)
1 July 2010
FRS 127
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)
1 July 2010
Amendments to FRS 2
Share-based Payment
1 July 2010
Amendments to FRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
1 July 2010
Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets
1 July 2010
IC Interpretation 12
Service Concession Arrangements
1 July 2010
IC Interpretation 16
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
1 July 2010
IC Interpretation 17
Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
1 July 2010
Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Amendments to FRS 1
Limited Exemption from Comparative FRS 7
		
Disclosures for First-time Adopters
Amendments to FRS 7
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
IC Interpretation 4
Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
IC Interpretation 18
Transfers of Assets from Customers
		
Amendments to FRSs contained in the document entitled “Improvements to FRSs (2010)”
IC Interpretation 19

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Amendments to IC Interpretation 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
IC Interpretation 15
FRS 124
(b)

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
Related Party Disclosures (revised)

1 July 2010
1 January 2011
1 January 2011
1 January 2011
1 January 2011
1 January 2011
1 July 2011
1 July 2011
1 January 2012
1 January 2012

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Company’s functional currency.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(c)	Significant accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on historical
experience and other relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
(I)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation or uncertainty at the
statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:
(i)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The costs of property, plant and equipment of the Group and of the Company are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets. Management estimates the useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment as stated in Note 2(e)(iii). These are common life
expectancies applied in the industry. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological
developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets,
therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s and
of the Company’s property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2010 are stated in Note 3 to
the financial statements.

(ii)	Amortisation of intangible asset
The costs of intangible asset of the Group and of the Company are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the useful life of the asset. Management estimates the useful life of the computer
software as stated in Note 2(g). These are common life expectancies applied in the industry.
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the
economic useful life and the residual value of this asset, therefore future depreciation charges
could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s and of the Company’s intangible asset at
31 December 2010 is stated in Note 5 to the financial statements.
(iii)	Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. There are certain transactions
and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Significant judgement is involved especially in determining tax base allowances and
deductibility of certain expenses in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. The
Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(II)

The following are the judgements made by the management in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
(i)	Impairment of loans and receivables
The policy for impairment of loans and receivables of the Group and the Company is based on the
evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of accounts and on the management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each customer.
If the financial conditions of customers with which the Group and the Company deals were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of the ability to make payments, additional impairment
may be required.
(ii)	Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies financial assets as held-to-maturity investments when it has a positive intention
and ability to hold the investment to maturity. Management exercises judgement based on the
Group’s financial risk management policy to determine whether the financial assets are to be
classified as held-to-maturity.

(d)	Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
companies made up to the end of the financial year. Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost
less impairment losses. The policy of the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 2(f ).
(i)	Subsidiary companies
Subsidiary companies are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power
to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to the date on
which that control ceases.
Minority interest is measured at the minorities’ share of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
at the date of acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ share of changes in equity since the date of
acquisition, except when the losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary exceed the minority interest
in the equity of that subsidiary. In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to the minority
are attributed to the equity holders of the Company.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(ii)	Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
(iii)	Transaction costs
		
Costs directly attributable to an acquisition are included as part of the cost of acquisition.
(e)

Property, plant and equipment
(i)	Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 2(f ).
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other cost directly attributable to
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use and the costs of dismantling and removing
the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
(ii)	Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow
to the Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful
lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Computer equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Renovation
Motor vehicles

3 to 5 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
5 years

The depreciable amount is determined after deducting the residual value.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each financial year end.
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount
and are included in profit/(loss) from operations.

52
53

Notes to the Financial Statements
(f)	Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment.
If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is
estimated at each reporting date or more frequently when indications of impairment are identified.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
recognised directly against any revaluation surplus for the asset to the extent that the impairment loss does
not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same asset. A cash-generating unit is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups.
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the units (groups of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (groups of units) on a pro rata basis.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.
The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided
that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment
loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in statement of comprehensive income, unless the asset is
carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
(g)	Intangible asset
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use of the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense
when incurred. Cost that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the
Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as
intangible assets. Costs include employee costs incurred as a result of developing software and an appropriate
portion of relevant of overheads.
Costs which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programme beyond their original
specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of software.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using straight line method over
their estimated useful lives, not exceeding a period of 10 years.
(h)	Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value after adequate allowance has been made
for all deteriorated, damaged, obsolete or slow-moving inventories. Cost is determined using the first in, first
out method.
Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and selling expenses.
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(i)	Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, deposits and other short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For
the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts
and pledged deposits, if any.
(j)

Foreign currencies
(i)

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign currencies, which are carried at historical cost are
translated using historical rate as of the date of acquisition and non-monetary items which are carried
at fair value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined.

(ii)

Foreign operations
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(1)

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(2)

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(3)

all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign subsidiary companies are treated
as assets and liabilities and translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the transaction dates.
The closing exchange rates used for each unit of the main foreign currencies in the Group and in the
Company are as follows:
		
2010
2009
		RM	RM
			
Singapore Dollar
2.3859
2.4401
Indonesia Rupiah
0.0309
–
US Dollar
3.0835
–
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(k)

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group and the Company have
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this at every reporting date except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets that are designated or held for
trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction
costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. After initial recognition, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value.

(ii)	Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
unquoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.
Loans and receivables in the statements of financial position consist of trade and other receivables,
marketable securities and inter-company loans and advances. These are classified as current assets,
except for those having maturity dates later than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified
as non-current assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when the loans
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
(iii)	Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income when
the held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
(iv)	Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the statement of financial position date.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
their acquisitions. Investment in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
valued at cost less impairment loss.
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After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any
gains and losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and
interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in statement of comprehensive
income.
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
category are presented in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as part of other operating income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.
(l)	Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. For an equity instrument, a significant or
prolonged declined in fair value below its cost is also considered objective evidence of impairment.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial
assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in statement of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised costs, the reversal is recognised in statement
of comprehensive income.
(m)

Financial liabilities
Short-term borrowings, trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities in the statement of financial
position as there is a contractual obligation to make cash payments to another entity and is contractually
obliged to settle the liabilities in cash.
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except when the Group designates the liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss when:
(i)

they are acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term;

(ii)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies that
would otherwise arise from measuring financial liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them; or

(iii)

the financial liability constains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

56
57

Notes to the Financial Statements
(n)	Income taxes
Income tax on the profit or loss for the financial year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the
expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the financial year and is measured
using the tax rates that have been enacted at the statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the statement of financial
position date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
profit nor taxable profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of
financial position date. Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it
arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged
or credited directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case
the deferred tax is included in the resulting goodwill or negative goodwill.
(o)	Revenue recognition
(i)

Goods sold and services rendered
Revenue from sales of goods and services is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable and
is recognised when significant risk and rewards have been transferred to the buyer, or upon performance
of services, net of sales taxes and discounts.

(ii)	Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield on
the asset.
(iii)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

(p)	Employee benefits
(i)	Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the financial
year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. Short
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are
rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensation absences. Short term
non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick and medical leave are recognised when the
absences occur.
The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as additional amount expected to
be paid as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the statement of financial position
date.
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(ii)

Defined contribution plans
As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).
The Group’s foreign subsidiary company makes contributions to its respective country’s statutory pension
scheme. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income
as incurred.

(iii)	Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”)
The N2N ESOS, an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, allows the Company and its subsidiary
company’s employees to acquire ordinary shares of the Company. The total fair value of share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve within equity over the vesting period and taking into account the probability that the
options will vest. The fair value of share options is measured at grant date, taking into account, if any,
the market vesting conditions upon which the options were granted but excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to become exercisable on vesting date.
At each statement of financial position date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable on vesting date. It recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive income, and a corresponding adjustment to equity
over the remaining vesting period. The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve until
the option is exercised, upon which it will be transferred to share premium, or until the option expires,
upon which it will be transferred directly to retained earnings.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to equity when the
options are exercised.
(q)	Equity instruments
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in
which they are declared.
The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax. Equity
transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction
which would otherwise have been avoided.
(r)	Segment reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segment based on their business activities.
An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker, who
will make decisions to allocate resources to the segments and assess the segment performance.
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3.

Property, Plant and Equipment

	Computer 	Office
Furniture		
Motor
equipment equipment
and fittings	Renovation vehicles	Total
Group	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM
RM
Cost						
At 1.1.2010
35,033,903
239,765
266,036
476,280
308,008
36,323,992
Additions
2,589,685
34,570
43,658
28,049
–
2,695,962
Written-off
(80,909)
–
(420)
–
–
(81,329)
Exchange differences
(45,997)
(154)
(1)
–
–
(46,152)
At 31.12.2010
37,496,682
274,181
309,273
504,329
308,008
38,892,473
						
Accumulated
depreciation 						
At 1.1.2010
17,567,446
78,177
96,667
132,520
268,186
18,142,996
Charge for the
financial year
7,791,857
24,992
28,140
48,688
27,555
7,921,232
Written-off
(74,073)
–
(263)
–
–
(74,336)
Exchange differences
(15,266)
(5)
8
–
–
(15,263)
At 31.12.2010
25,269,964
103,164
124,552
181,208
295,741
25,974,629
						
Carrying amount						
At 31.12.2010
12,226,718
171,017
184,721
323,121
12,267
12,917,844
Cost						
At 1.1.2009
34,458,615
213,901
275,072
476,280
308,008
35,731,876
Additions
567,840
26,370
172
–
–
594,382
Written-off
(20,644)
(608)
(9,333)
–
–
(30,585)
Exchange differences
28,092
102
125
–
–
28,319
At 31.12.2009
35,033,903
239,765
266,036
476,280
308,008
36,323,992
						
Accumulated
depreciation 						
At 1.1.2009
9,823,440
55,710
71,722
84,891
215,095
10,250,858
Charge for the
financial year
7,751,617
22,591
26,980
47,629
53,091
7,901,908
Written-off
(16,332)
(132)
(2,059)
–
–
(18,523)
Exchange differences
8,721
8
24
–
–
8,753
At 31.12.2009
17,567,446
78,177
96,667
132,520
268,186
18,142,996
						
Carrying amount						
At 31.12.2009
17,466,457
161,588
169,369
343,760
39,822
18,180,996
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	Computer 	Office
Furniture		
Motor
equipment equipment
and fittings	Renovation vehicles	Total
Company	RM	RM	RM	RM	RM
RM
Cost						
At 1.1.2010
32,260,021
232,870
259,216
476,280
308,008
33,536,395
Additions
640,460
21,840
30,874
28,049
–
721,223
Written-off
(78,182)
–
(420)
–
–
(78,602)
At 31.12.2010

32,822,299

254,710

289,670

504,329

308,008

Accumulated
depreciation 						
At 1.1.2010
16,574,528
77,315
95,428
132,519
268,185
Charge for the
financial year
7,073,837
23,716
26,658
48,689
27,556
Written-off
(71,346)
–
(263)
–
–

34,179,016

17,147,975
7,200,456
(71,609)

At 31.12.2010
23,577,019
101,031
121,823
181,208
295,741
24,276,822
						
Carrying amount						
At 31.12.2010
9,245,280
153,679
167,847
323,121
12,267
9,902,194
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Cost						
At 1.1.2009
32,115,985
206,501
259,044
476,280
308,008
33,365,818
Additions
164,680
26,369
172
–
–
191,221
Written-off
(20,644)
–
–
–
–
(20,644)
At 31.12.2009
32,260,021
232,870
259,216
476,280
308,008
33,536,395
						
Accumulated
depreciation 						
At 1.1.2009
9,341,101
55,440
69,592
84,891
215,095
9,766,119
Charge for the
financial year
7,249,759
21,875
25,836
47,628
53,090
7,398,188
Written-off
(16,332)
–
–
–
–
(16,332)
At 31.12.2009
16,574,528
77,315
95,428
132,519
268,185
17,147,975
						
Carrying amount						
At 31.12.2009
15,685,493
155,555
163,788
343,761
39,823
16,388,420
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4.	Investment in Subsidiary Companies
(a)	Investment in subsidiary companies
	Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Unquoted shares, at cost			
In Malaysia				
1,000,002
6
Outside Malaysia				1,392,000
1,392,000
					2,392,002
Impairment loss				
(297,002)

1,392,006
(297,000)

					2,095,000

1,095,006

(b	The subsidiary companies and shareholding therein are as follows:
		Country of	Equity
Name of company
incorporation
interest
Principal activities
			
2010
2009
			
%
%
				
* N2N Connect Pte. Ltd.
Singapore
100
100
Provide consultancy
					  services, sales, marketing
					  and related activities
				
N2N Global Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
Research and development
					  of software packages
					  and provision of design,
					 
programming, consultancy
					  services and related services
				
# Getemo Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
Dormant
				
NGN Connection Sdn. Bhd.
Malaysia
100
100
Provision of managed network
					  services, consultancy services,
					  sales, marketing and related
					 
activities
*

Subsidiary company not audited by Morison Anuarul Azizan Chew.

#

Financial statements of this subsidiary company has not been adopted as this subsidiary company
has filed in an application to strike-off pursuant to Section 308 of the Companies Act 1965. Hence, the
management financial statements of this subsidiary company has not been consolidated for the financial
year ended 31 December 2010. The said application is currently pending the approval by the relevant
authority.
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5.	Intangible Asset
Group/Company
					2010
2009
				Note	RM	RM
Computer software				
Cost				
At 1 January				
9,918,435
Addition during the financial year			
24
2,315,156
At 31 December				
				

12,233,591

Accumulated amortisation				
At 1 January				
3,320,701
Amortised during the financial year,
included in cost of sales				
1,113,826

8,040,701
1,877,734
9,918,435

2,417,773
902,928

At 31 December				
				

4,434,527

3,320,701

Carrying amount 				

7,799,064

6,597,734

(a)	Impairment test for intangible asset
Computer software has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the individual entities which are
also the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) identified.
(b)

Key assumptions used to determine recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use calculations using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a five-year period. A pre-tax discount rate of
5% per annum was applied to the cash flow projections, after taking into consideration the expected rate of
return and various risk relating to the CGU.
During the financial year, the Group did not recognise any impairment loss in respect of the intangible asset
except for amortisation of intangible asset.

6.	Inventories
Group/Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Finished goods				2,150
4,030
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7.	Trade Receivables
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Trade receivables		
29,978,804
Allowance for impairment		
(24,493,962)

28,183,037
(21,587,882)

26,839,888
(24,485,962)

26,556,216
(21,579,882)

			
5,484,842

6,595,155

2,353,926

4,976,334

The Group and the Company’s normal trade credit terms range from 30 to 90 days (2009: 30 to 90 days).
The ageing analysis is as follows:
Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Neither past due nor impaired				
2,407,300
803,047
1 to 30 days past due but not impaired				
31 to 60 days past due but not impaired			
61 to 90 days past due but not impaired			
91 to 120 days past due but not impaired			
More than 121 days past due but not impaired			

534,982
181,869
102,064
416,109
1,802,506

725,280
624,469
410,204
546,708
550,779

					3,037,530
Individually impaired				24,533,974

2,857,440
24,522,550

					29,978,804

28,183,037

	Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Neither past due nor impaired				
372,672
392,251
1 to 30 days past due but not impaired				
31 to 60 days past due but not impaired			
61 to 90 days past due but not impaired			
91 to 120 days past due but not impaired			
More than 121 days past due but not impaired			

191,547
32,872
29,637
34,709
1,652,477

299,303
263,519
158,536
402,661
525,396

					1,941,242
Individually impaired				24,525,974

1,649,415
24,514,550

					26,839,888

26,556,216
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Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with
the Group and the Company. These debtors are mostly long term customers with no history of default in payments.
None of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the financial
year.
The Group's and the Company’s trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date but not impaired relate
mainly to customers who have never defaulted on payments but are slow paymasters, hence, periodically monitored.
None of the trade receivables that are past due but not impaired have been renegotiated during the financial year.
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors with significant
delay in repayment. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.
Movements in allowance for impairment during the financial year are as follows:
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
At beginning of the financial year		
21,587,882
5,562,500
Allowance made during the year				
- Individually		
2,906,080
16,025,382

21,579,882

5,562,500

2,906,080

16,017,382

At end of the financial year		

24,485,962

21,579,882

24,493,962

21,587,882

8.	Other Receivables
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Other receivables		
368,916
Deposits		
313,249
Prepayments 		
80,946

363,758
280,449
1,027,943

358,078
233,252
17,298

356,145
197,875
1,021,885

			

1,672,150

608,628

1,575,905

763,111

9.	Amount Owing by Holding Company
(a)

The Directors regard N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd, a company incorporated in Malaysia, as the holding
company.

(b)

This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.

10.	Amount Owing by Subsidiary Companies
This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.
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11.

Marketable Securities
Group/Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
Held for trading investment			
Quoted shares in Malaysia				
Quoted unit trusts in Malaysia				

566,727
11,734,445

1,775,161
10,205,412

					12,301,172
Impairment losses, included in administration expenses			
Quoted shares in Malaysia				
–

11,980,573

					12,301,172
			

10,684,573

(1,296,000)

The impairment losses recognised in prior year arose as a result of a decline in market prices as compared to the
carrying amount of the securities.
The recoverable amount of the marketable securities is based on its fair value less cost to sell by reference to its market
price at statement of financial position date.
The market value of the quoted shares and quoted unit trusts are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.
12.	Trade Payables
The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company range from 30 to 90 days (2009: 30 to 90 days).
13.	Other Payables
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Other payables 		
Accruals 		

655,936
491,619

28,238
1,286,213

185,349
221,190

28,238
1,220,986

			 1,147,555

1,314,451

406,539

1,249,224

14.	Amount Owing to Directors
This represents unsecured interest free advances which are repayable on demand.
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15.	Share Capital
Group/Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
		Number of Ordinary Shares	RM	RM
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each:						
Authorised		
500,000,000
500,000,000
50,000,000
50,000,000
						
Issued and fully paid					
At 1 January		
298,760,800
298,430,400
29,876,080
29,843,040
Issued during the financial year		
178,200
330,400
17,820
33,040
At 31 December		

298,939,000

298,760,800

29,893,900

29,876,080

During the financial year, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company was increased from RM29,876,080
to RM29,893,900 by way of the issuance of 178,200 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for cash pursuant to the
Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme at weighted exercise price of RM0.23 per ordinary share.
The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary
shares of the Company.
16.	Exchange Reserve
The exchange reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.
17.

Deferred Tax Liabilities
Group
					2010
2009
				Note	RM	RM
				
At 1 January				
33,411
–
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income		
21
21,299
33,411
Over provision in prior year				
(25,582)
–
At 31 December				

29,128

33,411

Presented after appropriate offsetting are as follows:
Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Deferred tax liabilities				
240,809
33,411
Deferred tax assets				
(211,681)
–
					29,128

33,411
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The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets prior to offsetting are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities of the Group:
						Accelerated
						
capital
						 allowances
						RM
At 1 January 2010					
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				
Over provision in prior year					

33,411
232,980
(25,582)

At 31 December 2010					

240,809

At 1 January 2009					
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income				

–
33,411

At 31 December 2009					

33,411

Deferred tax assets of the Group:
					Unutilised
					
capital
					 allowances	Total
					RM	RM
					
At 1 January 2010				
–
–
Recognised in statements of comprehensive income			
(211,681)
(211,681)
At 31 December 2010				

(211,681)

(211,681)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following temporary differences:
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Unutilised capital allowances		
Unabsorbed tax losses		

2,998,368
1,745,250

8,488,831
914,108

–
81,403

7,674,495
169,089

			 4,743,618

9,402,939

81,403

7,843,584

The unabsorbed tax losses and unutilised capital allowances are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable
profits of the Group and the Company in which those items arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these items as they may not be used to offset taxable profits of other company in the Group and they have
arisen in companies that have a recent history of business losses.
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18.	Revenue
This represents billings for professional services rendered net of discounts.
19. Finance Costs
		

Group/Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Hire purchase interest				
–
435

20.	Loss before Taxation
Loss before taxation is derived after charging/(crediting):
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Allowance for impairment		
2,906,080
16,025,382
2,906,080
Amortisation of intangible asset		
1,113,826
902,928
1,113,826
Auditors’ remuneration					
- statutory		
27,400
26,366
17,000
- other		
22,500
17,500
22,500
Impairment loss on trade receivables		
271,682
–
296,621
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment		
7,921,232
7,901,908
7,200,456
Directors’ remuneration					
- Fees			
141,600
110,000
141,600
- Salaries and other emoluments		
637,852
486,272
245,634
- EPF			
53,126
48,115
27,936
Impairment loss of marketable
securities		
–
30,000
–
Fair value gain on marketable
securities		
(49,748)
–
(49,748)
Impairment loss of investment in
a subsidiary company		
–
–
2
Rental of premises		
512,894
535,176
479,294
Lease rental		
126,178
–
–
Property, plant and equipment
written-off		
6,993
12,062
6,993
Foreign exchange gain				
- Realised		
191,184
(2,486)
181,510
- Unrealised		
–
–
31,052
Interest income		
(282,784)
(273,051)
(282,784)
Dividend income		
(37,818)
(20,364)
(37,818)
Management fee received/receivable
from subsidiary companies		
–
–
(2,223,803)

16,017,382
902,928
15,000
17,500
–
7,398,188
110,000
208,080
24,720
30,000
–
297,000
452,664
–
4,312
(2,486)
(62,636)
(273,051)
(20,364)
(2,948,908)

68
69

Notes to the Financial Statements
21.	Taxation
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
		Note	RM	RM	RM	RM
Statutory tax:					
Under provision in prior
year		
5,061
5,286
5,061
5,286
Deferred taxation:					
Relating to origination and
reversal of temporary
differences
17
21,299
33,411
–
–
Over provision in prior
year		
(25,582)
–
–
–
Tax expense for the financial
year		778

38,697

5,061

5,286

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%) of the estimated assessable
profit for the financial year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective
jurisdictions.
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income
tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company are as follows:
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Loss before taxation		
(6,466,079)
(21,594,337)
(5,028,256)
(21,557,095)
						
Taxation at statutory tax
rate of 25% (2009: 25%)		
Expenses not deductible
for tax purposes		
Income not subject to tax		
Reversal of deferred tax
liabilities not recognised		
Deferred tax assets not
recognised		
Effect of different tax rates
in other country		
Under provision of
taxation in prior year		
Reduction in tax rate		
Over provision of deferred
tax in prior year		

(1,611,520)

(5,398,584)

(1,257,064)

(5,389,274)

550,885
(70,696)

4,156,984
(68,757)

548,590
(70,696)

4,173,882
(68,263)

–

13,071

–

13,071

1,100,942

1,308,147

779,170

1,270,584

51,688

17,427

–

–

5,061
–

5,286
5,123

5,061
–

5,286
–

(25,582)

–

–

–

Tax expense for the
financial year		778

38,697

5,061

5,286
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The Group and the Company have unabsorbed tax losses amounting to approximately RM1,745,000 and Nil (2009:
RM914,000 and RM169,000) respectively and unutilised capital allowances amounting to approximately RM2,998,000
and RM81,000 (2009: RM8,488,000 and RM7,674,000) respectively available for carry forward to set-off against future
taxable profits. The said amounts are subject to approval by the tax authorities.
The Company was granted Pioneer Status by the relevant authority for a period of five years effective from 1 July
2004 to 30 June 2009. The Company has applied for an extension of Pioneer Status for another five years in previous
financial year and as at the date of this report, the application is pending for the approval from the relevant authority.
If the Pioneer Status is not extended, there would be no impact on the taxation, tax payable and deferred tax liabilities
in the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
22.	Loss Per Share
(a)	Basic loss per share
The loss per share has been calculated based on the consolidated loss after taxation for the financial year
attributable to equity holders of the Company of RM6,446,857 (2009: RM21,633,034) for the Group and the
adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year of 298,849,299 (2009:
298,509,188).
Group

					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Net loss for the financial year attributable to the equity holders
of the Company				
6,446,857
21,633,034
			
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue			
(b)

298,849,299

298,509,188

Fully diluted loss per share
Fully diluted loss per share has been calculated based on the consolidated loss after taxation for the financial
year attributable to equity holders of the Company of RM6,446,857 (2009: RM21,633,034) for the Group and the
adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares issued and issuable of 298,849,299 (2009: 298,509,188).
Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Net loss for the financial year attributable to the equity holders
of the Company				
6,446,857
21,633,034
			
Weighted number of ordinary shares in issue			
Adjusted for:			
Assumed exercise of ESOS at no consideration			

298,849,299

298,509,188

*

*

					298,849,299

298,509,188

*

The number of shares under ESOS was not taken into account in the computation of diluted loss per
share because the effect on the basic loss per share antidilutive.
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23.	Employee Share Option Scheme
The N2N Connect Berhad (“N2N”) Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) was approved by shareholders at the
General Meetings on 13 October 2005 and 18 October 2005. The ESOS was implemented on 23 November 2005
and shall be in force for a period of 5 years from the date of implementation. Pursuant to the Board’s approval on 24
August 2010, the tenure of the ESOS has been extended for a further 5 years, expiring on 22 December 2015.
The main features of the ESOS which is constituted under the by-laws are as follows:
(a)

The total number of new ordinary shares which may be made available under the ESOS shall not exceed 10% of
the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company at any point in time during the tenure of the ESOS.

(b)

All employees and Directors of the Group shall be eligible to participate in the ESOS, if, as at the offer date, the
employee or Director:
(i)

has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; and

(ii)

is employed by and is on the payroll of a company within the Group or a Director of any of the companies
within the Group;

Any allocation of options under the ESOS to any person who is a Director of the Company shall require prior
approval from the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
(c)

The number of new shares that may be offered and allotted to any of the eligible employees of the Group
who are entitled to participate in the ESOS shall be at the discretion of the Option Committee after taking into
consideration the position, performance and contribution to the Group, seniority and length of service of the
eligible employee in the Group subject to the following:
(i)

the number of new shares allocated, in aggregate, to the Directors and senior management of the Group
shall not exceed 50% of the total new shares available under the ESOS;

(ii)

the number of shares allocated to an eligible employee who either singly or collectively through persons
connected with the eligible employee holds 20% or more of the issued and paid up share capital of the
Company, shall not exceed 10% of the total new shares available under the ESOS.

(d)

The option price shall be determined at a discount of not more than 10% from the weighted average market
price of the Company’s ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for five (5) market days preceding the date of offer, or
the par value of the shares, whichever is higher. In the event the ESOS is made to the eligible employees prior
to the admission of the Company on the Malaysian Exchange of Securities Dealing & Automated Quotation
(“MESDAQ”) Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), subsequently transformed into the
ACE Market, the option price shall be the higher of the theoretical ex-bonus price after the public issue and
bonus issue of RM0.41 or the par value of the shares.

(e)

The ESOS shall come into force for a duration of ten (10) years from the effective date 23 November 2005.

(f )

The new shares to be allotted upon any exercise of the options shall upon issue and allotment rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company save and except that the new shares will not
be entitled to participate in any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other distributions that may be declared,
where the entitlement date precedes the said date of allotment and issuance as stipulated therein.

(g)

The option is personal to the grantee and is non-assignable.
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(h)

A Grantee shall exercise his options by notice in writing to the Company in the prescribed form stating the
number of options exercised, the number of shares relating thereto and the Grantee’s individual/nominee CDS
account number. The options shall be exercised in multiples of and not less than one hundred (100) options.
The exercise by a Grantee of some but not all of the options which have been offered to and accepted by him
shall not preclude the Grantee from subsequently exercising any other options which have been or will be
offered to and accepted by him, during the option period.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”)
are as follows:
	Number of share options
						Exercisable
		At			At
at
		
1 January
Granted	Exercised
31 December
31 December
2010 				
First Grant
4,306,900
–
62,000
4,244,900
Second Grant
21,262,300
–
116,200
21,146,100
Total		
25,569,200
–
178,200
25,391,000
					
WAEP		
0.242
–
0.233
					

4,244,900
21,146,100
25,391,000

0.242

0.242

4,306,900
21,262,300

4,306,900
21,262,300

Total		
25,899,600
–
330,400
25,569,200
					

25,569,200

2009					
First Grant
4,406,300
–
99,400
Second Grant
21,493,300
–
231,000

WAEP		

0.241

–

0.235

0.242
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0.242

		Details of share options outstanding at end of the financial year are as follows:
		Exercise	Exercise
Share Options
price
Period
		RM			
2010				
First Grant
* 0.200
23.11.2005 - 22.11.2015
Second Grant
* 0.250
23.12.2005 - 22.12.2015
				
2009 			
First Grant
* 0.200
23.11.2005 - 22.11.2010
Second Grant
* 0.250
23.12.2005 - 22.12.2010
*

Fair value of share options granted during the financial year

As allowed by the transitional provisions in FRS 2 “Share-based payment”, the recognition and measurement principles
have not been applied to these grants.
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24.	Staff Information
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
		Note	RM	RM	RM	RM
		
Staff costs (excluding
Directors) comprise:					
Charged to statements of
comprehensive income		
3,642,470
2,792,209
3,330,730
2,781,275
Capitalised in intangible
asset
5
2,315,156
1,877,734
2,315,156
1,877,734
Total staff costs for the
financial year		
5,957,626

4,669,943

5,645,886

4,659,009

Included in the total staff costs above are contributions made to the Employees Provident Fund under a defined
contribution plan for the Group and for the Company amounting to RM608,718 and RM578,445 (2009: RM483,368
and RM482,031) respectively.
25.	Section 108 Tax Credit and Tax Exempt Income
Under the single tier system which came into effect from year of assessment 2008, companies are not required to
have tax credits under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 for dividend payment purposes. Dividends under this
system are tax exempt in the hands of shareholder.
Companies with Section 108 balance as at 31 December 2007 may continue to pay franked dividends until such time
the tax credit is fully utilised or upon expiry of the 6 year transitional period on 31 December 2013, whichever is earlier,
unless they opt to disregard the Section 108 credits and switch over to the single tier system.
Subject to agreement with the Inland Revenue Board, the Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of
Income Tax Act, 1967 and tax exempt income under Promotion of Investments Act, 1986 to frank the payment of
dividends out of all its distributable reserves as at 31 December 2010.
26.	Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments
Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
Future minimum rentals payables:			
Within one year				
Between one and two years				

148,880
24,813

–
–

					

173,693

–
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27.	Segmental Information - Group
Segment information is primarily presented in respect of the Group’s business segment which is based on the Group’s
management and internal reporting structure. Management monitors the operating results of its business segment
separately for the purposes of making decision about resource allocation and performance assessment.
(a)	Business segment
The principal businesses of the Group are carrying on the business as researcher and developer of software
packages, provider of design, programming, consultancy services and related activities which are substantially
within a single business segment. As such, segmental reporting by business segment is deemed not necessary.
Accordingly the information regarding its financial position and results is represented by the financial statements
as a whole.
(b)

Geographical segments
(i)

Revenue by geographical location of customers

Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Malaysia				12,492,577
10,258,270
Singapore				1,858,709
1,942,460
Indonesia				489,434
70,000
Middle East				
40,000
–
Hong Kong				
10,000
–
Vietnam				58,581
–
					14,949,301
(ii)

12,270,730

Non-current assets by geographical location of assets are as follows:

Group
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Malaysia				19,530,567
23,590,877
Singapore				1,186,341
1,187,853
					20,716,908
(c)	Information about major customers
Revenue from 2 (2009: 3) major customers amount to RM7,154,630 (2009: RM5,517,875).

24,778,730
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28.	Effects on Adoption of New and Revised FRSs
The effects on adoption of the following applicable new and revised FRS in financial year 2010 are set out below:
(a)

FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures
This new standard requires disclosures in financial statements that enable users to evaluate the significance
of financial instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance, and the nature and extent of risks
arising from financial instruments to which an entity is exposed and how these risks are managed. This standard
requires both qualitative disclosures describing management’s objectives, policies and processes for managing
those risks, and quantitative disclosures providing information about the extent to which an entity is exposed
to risk, based on information provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel.
The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions.
Hence, the new disclosures have not been applied to the comparatives.

(b)

FRS 8: Operating Segments
This FRS requires the entity to disclose the following information:
(i)

Segment information based on the information reviewed by the entity’s chief decision maker.

(ii)

Factor used to identify the entity’s reportable segments, including the basis of organisation (for example,
whether management has chosen to organise the entity around differences in products and services,
geographical areas, regulatory environments, or a combination of factors and whether operating
segments have been aggregated).

(iii)

Type of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenues.

(iv)

The amounts of additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets,
post-employment benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts.

(v)

Information about the extent of its reliance on its major customers. If revenues from transactions with a
single external customer amount to 10 per cent or more of an entity’s revenues, the entity shall disclose
that fact, the total amount of revenues from each such customer, and the identity of the segment or
segments reporting the revenues.

The Group has adopted FRS 8 retrospectively.
(c)

FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Revised)
This standard establishes the principles for the recognition, derecognition and measurement of an entity’s
financial instruments and for hedge accounting.

(d)

FRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
The standard requires an entity to present, in a statement of changes in equity, all owner changes in equity. All
non-owner changes in equity (i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one statement of
comprehensive income or in two statements (a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive
income). Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to be presented in the statement of changes
in equity. In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the reclassification of items in the
financial statements. FRS 101 does not have any impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial position
or results.
The revised FRS 101 was adopted retrospectively by the Group and the Company.
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29.	Revised FRSs Not Yet Adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been issued and are mandatory for accounting periods
as mentioned in Note 2(a) to the financial statements. The Group and the Company have assessed those standards
and interpretations issued which are applicable to the Group and the Company as follows:
(a)

FRS 3: Business Combinations (revised)
(i)

This revised standard allows a choice on a transaction-by-transaction basis for the measurement of
non-controlling interests (previously referred to as “minority interests”) either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interests’ share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree;

(ii)

It changes the recognition and subsequent accounting requirements for contingent consideration. Under
the previous version of the Standard, contingent consideration was recognised at the acquisition date
only if payment of the contingent consideration was probable and it could be measured reliably; any
subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised against goodwill. Under the
revised Standard, contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date; subsequent
adjustments to the consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise
from new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss;

(iii)

It requires the recognition of a settlement gain or loss where the business combination in effect settles
a pre-existing relationship between the Group and the acquiree; and

(iv)

It requires acquisition-related costs to be accounted for separately from the business combination,
generally leading to those costs being recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred, whereas
previously they were accounted for as part of the cost of the business combination.

Upon adoption, this Standard will be applied prospectively and therefore, no restatements will be required in respect
of transactions prior to the date of adoption.
(b)

FRS 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised)
The revised Standard will affect the Group’s accounting policies regarding changes in ownership interests in
its subsidiaries that do not result in a change in control. Previously, in the absence of specific requirements
in FRSs, increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of
subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised, where appropriate; for decreases in
interests in existing subsidiaries regardless of whether the disposals would result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration received and the carrying amount of the share
of net assets disposed of was recognised in profit or loss.
Under FRS 127 (revised), increases or decreases in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are dealt with in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent,
with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss. When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, FRS 127 (revised) requires that the Group derecognise all assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests at their carrying amounts. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised
at its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Upon adoption, this Standard will be applied prospectively and therefore, no restatements will be required in
respect of transactions prior to the date of adoption.
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30.	Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain an adequate capital base so as to maintain
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.
The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is net capital plus net debt. The Group’s policy is to keep the
lower gearing ratio. The Group includes within net debt, trade and other payables, less cash and bank balances. Capital
represents the equity attributable to the owners of the parent.
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Trade and other payables		
1,520,278
Less: cash and cash
equivalents		
(2,723,159)

2,136,819

685,569

2,000,424

(5,357,331)

(402,560)

(173,128)

Net debt		
(1,202,881)
(3,220,512)
283,009
						

1,827,296

Total capital		
40,434,781
46,896,887
42,330,203
47,322,070
						
Capital and net debt		
39,231,900
43,676,375
42,613,212
49,149,366
						
Gearing ratio		
(3.07%)

(7.37%)

0.66%

3.72%

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
31.

Financial Instruments
(a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s and the Company’s financial risk management policy is to ensure that adequate financial resources
are available for the development of the Group’s and the Company’s operations whilst managing its financial
risks, including foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk, liquidity and cash flow
risk. The Group and the Company operates within clearly defined guidelines that are approved by the Board
and the Group’s and the Company’s policy is not to engage in speculative transactions.

(b)

Foreign currency exchange risk
The Group and the Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than Ringgit Malaysia. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily Singapore Dollar, US
Dollar and Indonesia Rupiah. The Group and the Company monitors the foreign currency risks on an ongoing
basis.
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The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and the Company that are not
denominated in their functional currencies are as follows:
Financial Assets/(Liabilities) Held in
	Non-Functional Currency
			Singapore	US
Functional Currency			
Dollar
Dollar	Total
				RM	RM	RM
			
Group			
2010			
Trade receivables			
Ringgit Malaysia			
–
34,005
34,005
			
Trade payables			
Ringgit Malaysia			
–
105,480
105,480
			
Company			
2010			
Amount owing by subsidiary company			
Ringgit Malaysia			
2,565,118
			
2009			
Amount owing by subsidiary company			
Ringgit Malaysia			
5,351,976
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2,565,118

–

5,351,976

Currency risk sensitivity analysis
As at the reporting date, the impact of change in 5% on SGD, USD and IDR exchange rates against the respective
functional currency of the Group and the Company, with all other variables remain constant, is immaterial to
the Group’s and the Company’s profit net of tax and equity.
(c)	Interest rate risk
The Group’s and the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Interest rate exposure arises from the Group’s and the Company’s deposits.
(d)	Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from receivables. Receivables are monitored
on an ongoing basis via management reporting procedure and action is taken to recover debts when due.
Credit risk concentration profile
At statement of financial position date, there was no significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk for the Group and the Company is the carrying amount of the financial assets shown in
the statements of financial position.
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The Group and the Company determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country profiles of its
trade receivables on an ongoing basis as follows:
Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
By country:					
Malaysia		
4,947,878
5,883,466
2,353,926
4,976,334
Singapore		
536,964
711,689
–
–
			
5,484,842

6,595,155

2,353,926

4,976,334

(e)	Liquidity and cash flow risk
The Group maintains a certain level of cash and cash convertible investments to meet its working capital
requirements.
Maturity analysis
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the
end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
					On demand
					
or within
					
one year	Total
					RM	RM
Group
Trade payables				372,723
Other payables				1,147,555
Amount owing to directors				
36,384
Total undiscounted financial liabilities			
1,556,662
		

(f)

372,723
1,147,555
36,384
1,556,662

Company		
Trade payables				279,030
Other payables				406,539
Amount owing to directors				
36,384

279,030
406,539
36,384

Total undiscounted financial liabilities			

721,953

721,953

Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest and exchange rates).
The Group and the Company is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity
instruments. The quoted equity instruments are listed on the Bursa Malaysia. These instruments are classified
as held for trading.
The fair value of quoted shares and quoted unit trusts are determined by reference to stock exchange quoted
market bid prices at the close of the business on the statement of financial position date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(g)

Fair values
(i)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
amount owing by holding company, amount owing by subsidiary companies and amount owing to
directors are approximated their fair values at the statement of financial position date due to the relatively
short term nature of these financial instruments.

(ii)

The aggregate fair values of the other financial assets carried on the statement of financial position date
are as follows:
2010
2009
			Carrying
Fair	Carrying
Fair
			 amount
value
amount
value
		RM	RM	RM	RM
Group					
Financial assets					
Marketable securities		
12,301,172
12,301,172
10,684,573
10,684,573
						
Company				
Financial assets				
Marketable securities		
12,301,172
12,301,172
10,684,573
10,684,573

32.	Related Party Disclosures
(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company had
the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

	Company
					2010
2009
					RM	RM
			
Subsidiary Companies			
E-broker fees received/receivable			
3,937,359
–
Management fees received/receivable			
2,223,803
2,948,908
Settlement of liabilities by the Company on behalf of the
subsidiary companies				5,592,555
1,331,618
The Directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course
of business and have been established on terms and conditions that are not materially different from those
obtainable in transactions with unrelated parties.
(b)

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31 December 2010
are disclosed in Note 9 and Note 10 to the financial statements.

(c)

Information regarding the compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

Group	Company
			
2010
2009
2010
2009
			RM	RM	RM	RM
Short-term employee benefits		

1,403,079

1,273,864

985,668

925,438
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Executive directors of the Group and the Company and other members of key management have been granted
the following number of options under the ESOS:
	Number of share options
						Exercisable
		At			At
at
		
1 January
Granted	Exercised
31 December
31 December
					
2010					
First Grant
2,397,600
–
–
2,397,600
2,397,600
Second Grant
10,100,000
–
–
10,100,000
10,100,000
Total		
12,497,600
–
–
12,497,600
					

12,497,600

WAEP		
0.240
–
–
0.240
0.240
					
2009 				
First Grant
2,397,600
–
–
2,397,600
Second Grant
10,100,000
–
–
10,100,000
Total		
12,497,600
–
–
12,497,600
					
WAEP		

0.240

–

–

0.240

2,397,600
10,100,000
12,497,600
0.240

The share options were granted on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the
Group as disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.
33.	Retained Profits
On 25 March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad issued a directive to all listed issuers pursuant to Paragraphs 2.07
and 2.23 of the Bursa Securities ACE Market Listing Requirements. The directive requires all listed issuers to disclose
the breakdown of the unappropriated profits or accumulated losses as of the end of the reporting period into realised
and unrealised profits or losses.
On 20 December 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad further issued guidance on the disclosure and the format
required.
The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2010 into realised and
unrealised amounts, pursuant to the directive, is as follows:
					
Group	Company
					RM	RM
			
Total retained profits			
Realised				5,070,726
7,237,950
Unrealised				
(29,128)
(31,052)
		
					5,041,598
7,206,898
Add: Consolidation adjustments				
55,993
–
Total retained profits as per consolidated statement of financial position		

5,097,591

7,206,898

Notes to the Financial Statements
The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is based on Guidance on Special Matter No. 1,
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Securities
Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on 20 December 2010. A charge or a credit
to the profit or loss of a legal entity is deemed realised when it is resulted from the consumption of resource of all types
and form, regardless of whether it is consumed in the ordinary course of business or otherwise. A resource may be
consumed through sale or use. Where a credit or a charge to the profit or loss upon initial recognition or subsequent
measurement of an asset or a liability is not attributed to consumption of resource, such credit or charge should not
be deemed as realised until the consumption of recourse could be demonstrated.
The above disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses is made solely for complying with the disclosure
requirements stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not made for any other purposes.
34.

Date of Authorisation for Issue
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 were
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 31 March 2011.
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Analysis of Shareholdings
as at 29 April 2011

Authorised Capital
Issued and Fully Paid-Up Capital
Class of shares
Voting rights
1.

:
:
:
:

RM50,000,000
RM29,893,900
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION SCHEDULE OF SHAREHOLDERS
	No. of Holders	Holdings	Total Holdings
10
115
498
334
114
3

Less than 100
100 to 1,000
1,001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares

%

334
90,062
2,621,102
10,719,500
101,752,692
183,755,310

0.00
0.03
0.88
3.58
34.04
61.47

298,939,000

100.00

		No. of
	Name
shares

Percentage
(%)

1,074		
2.	LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS

1
N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd
2
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd (66580 A CL)
3
HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for UBS AG
4
Tiang Boon Hwa
5
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Lai Su Ping (ESOS Pool Account)
6
Wong Lai Yoke
7
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	 
AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd for Goh Fuqiang,
	 
Kenneth (Wu Fuqiang, Kenneth) (16338)
8
Cheong Kah Yin
9
Amsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Ling Yun Hwee @ Lim Bee Hong
10
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  CIMB Bank for Goh Ching Chee (MY605)
11
Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Employees Provident Fund Board (PHEIM)
12
HLB Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Ong Nai Pew (SIN 9488-0)
13
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  AmFraser Securities Pte Ltd for Ramesh s/o Pritamdas
	  Chandiramani (16090)
14
Lai Sok Kun
15
Ming Khing Yih
16
CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd (ESOS Pool Account)
17
HDM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Hwang Ai Mor (M05)
18
HDM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  DBS Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd for Ong Nai Pew
19
PM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Vivian Lea Si-Xiu (D)

133,803,510
25,923,800

44.76
8.67

24,028,000

8.04

10,099,070
10,096,496

3.38
3.38

9,458,362
8,500,000

3.16
2.84

5,000,000
4,954,000

1.67
1.66

4,400,000

1.47

3,684,400

1.23

3,664,400

1.23

2,190,000

0.73

2,014,200
2,001,600
1,646,000

0.67
0.67
0.55

1,351,200

0.45

1,182,900

0.40

1,115,600

0.37

Analysis of Shareholdings
as at 29 April 2011

		No. of
	Name
shares
20
Tang Yim Heng
21
HLG Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd (A/C Clients)
22
Chen Boon Chew
23
Lai Wei Suen
24
Mayban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Ooi Bee Ling
25
Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Tan Boon Leng (E-TSA)
26
Quey Sew Leng @ Quek Siew Leng
27
JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  AISB for Goh Keng Huat (STA 3)
28
SJ Sec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
	  Pledged Securities Account for Chua Tiong Kheng (SMT)
29
Chow Yee Mei
30
Chan See Wai
		

Percentage
(%)

1,020,000
830,100

0.34
0.28

790,500
779,600
744,800

0.27
0.26
0.25

716,200

0.24

687,000
680,000

0.23
0.23

649,000

0.22

635,400
600,168

0.21
0.20

263,246,306

88.06
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3.	LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
		No. of
Percentage	No. of
	Names
shares
(%)
shares
		
(Direct)		
(Indirect)
1
N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd
2
Amsec Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for AmFraser
	  Securities Pte Ltd (66580 A CL)
3
HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
	  Exempt An for UBS AG
4.

Percentage
(%)

135,449,510
25,923,800

45.31
8.67

–
–

–
–

24,028,000

8.04

–

–

		No. of
Percentage	No. of
	Names
shares
(%)
shares
		
(Direct)		
(Indirect)

Percentage
(%)

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN SHARES IN THE COMPANY AND ITS RELATED COMPANIES

1
2
3
4
5
6

Izlan bin Izhab
Tiang Boon Hwa
Lai Su Ping
Chua Tiong Hoong
Cho Wai Loon
Tan Boon Leng

–
10,319,844
10,096,844
779,354
200,000
1,232,700

–
3.45
3.38
0.26
0.07
0.41

–		
145,546,354 (1)
145,769,354 (2)
364,000 (3)
–		
–		

–
48.69
48.76
0.12
–
–

The above Directors by virtue of the shareholdings in the Company are also deemed interested in shares in the related
corporations to the extent the Company has an interest.
Notes:Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd and his spouse, Lai Su Ping’s interest,
pursuant to Sections 6A and 134 of the Act.
(2)
Deemed interested by virtue of her interest in N2N Connect Holdings Sdn Bhd and her spouse, Tiang Boon Hwa’s
interest, pursuant to Sections 6A and 134 of the Act.
(3)
Deemed interested by virtue of his spouse, Yap Oi Peng’s interest, pursuant to Section 134 of the Act.
(1)
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PROXY FORM

N2N CONNECT BERHAD
(523137-K)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

I/We, .....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
of ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
being a member(s) of N2N CONNECT BERHAD, hereby appoint ............................................................................................................................................
of ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
or failing him/her .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
of ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................
as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Tenth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at
Anggerik Room, 4th Floor, Hotel Equatorial Kuala Lumpur, Jalan Sultan Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 20 June 2011 at
10:30 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof.
The proportion of my/our shareholding to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows:First proxy (1) ..................................................................... %

Second proxy (2) ....................................................................%

Third proxy (3) .................................................................. %
FOR	AGAINST
Resolution 1

Reports and Audited Financial Statements		

Resolution 2

Approval of the payment of Directors’ fees

Resolution 3

Re-election of En Izlan bin Izhab

Resolution 4

Re-election of Mr Cho Wai Loon		

Resolution 5
Resolution 6
		
Resolution 7

Appointment of Auditors 		
Authorisation for Directors to allot and issue shares
pursuant to Section 132D
Authorisation to buy-back shares

Subject to any voting instructions so given, the proxy will vote, or may abstain from voting on any resolution as he/she may think fit.

.............................................................................................................
Signature(s)/Common Seal of Shareholder

No. of Shares held

			
Dated this.......................................... day of....................................................2011

✄

NOTES
1.

A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company.

2.

A member shall be entitled to appoint more than one (1) proxy but not exceeding three (3) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where
a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented
by each proxy. If the appointor is a corporation, this form must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of its attorney.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at 3rd Floor, No. 17 Jalan Ipoh Kecil, 50350 Kuala Lumpur
not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Please fold here

Stamp

The Company Secretary

N2N CONNECT BERHAD (523137-K)
3rd Floor
17, Jalan Ipoh Kecil
50350 Kuala Lumpur

Please fold here

